IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS DALLAS DIVISION

IN RE:

REYNOLDS PROTECTION LLC,

Debtor.

S

CASE NO. 17-30761-bjh

Chapter 11

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT <u>DATED AUGUST 2, 2017</u>

Joyce W. Lindauer
Sarah M. Cox
Jamie N. Kirk
Jeffery M. Veteto
JOYCE W. LINDAUER ATTORNEY, PLLC
12720 Hillcrest Road, Suite 625
Dallas, Texas 75230

Telephone: (972) 503-4033 Facsimile: (972) 503-4034

ATTORNEYS FOR DEBTOR AND DEBTOR-

IN-POSSESSION

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I: INTRODUCTION	3
ARTICLE II: REPRESENTATIONS	10
ARTICLE III: FINANCIAL HISTORY AND BACKGROUND OF THE DEBTOR	12
ARTICLE IV: ANALYSIS AND VALUATION OF PROPERTY	13
Liquidation Analysis	14
ARTICLE V: SUMMARY OF THE PLAN OF REORGANIZATION	
Designation of Classes of Claims and Interests	14
Claims against Reynolds Protection, LLC, Case No. 17-30761	
Class 1 / Allowed Administrative Claims	16
Class 2 / Allowed Secured Claims of the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts	16
Class 3/ Allowed Priority Unsecured Claim of Internal Revenue Service	17
Class 4 / Allowed Secured Claim of Landry Marks	18
Class 5 / Allowed General Unsecured Claims	19
Class 6 / Allowed Equity Interests	19
ARTICLE VI: MEANS FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF PLAN	
ARTICLE VII: TREATMENT OF EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED L	
ARTICLE VIII: FEASIBILITY OF PLAN	
ARTICLE IX: ALTERNATIVES TO DEBTOR' PLAN	21
ARTICLE X: RISKS TO CREDITORS UNDER THE DEBTOR' PLAN	22
ARTICLE XI: TAX CONSEQUENCES	22
ARTICLE XII: PENDING LITIGATION	
ARTICLE XIII: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ORDERS ENTERED DURING THE C	CASE
	25

Exhibits:

- A Plan of Reorganization
- **B** Summary of Monthly Operating Reports
- C Projections
- **D** Claims Chart with Estimated Monthly Payments

ARTICLE I: INTRODUCTION

Identity of the Debtor

1.01. Reynolds Protection, LLC ("Debtor"), filed a voluntary petition for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. Section 101, et seq. ("Code") on March 2, 2017 in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas, Dallas Division ("Court"), initiating the above-styled and referenced bankruptcy proceeding. Reynolds Protection, LLC provides personal protection and event security services for high profile individuals and events in the Dallas – Fort Worth area. The Debtor is operating its business as Debtor-in-Possession pursuant to Sections 1107 and 1108 of the Code.

Purpose of Disclosure Statement; Source of Information

1.02. The Debtor submits this Disclosure Statement pursuant to Section 1125 of the Code to all known Claimants of Debtor for the purpose of disclosing that information which the Court has determined is material, important, and necessary for Creditors of, and the Members of, Debtor in order to arrive at an intelligent, reasonably informed decision in exercising the right to vote for acceptance or rejection of the Debtor' Plan. A copy of the Plan is attached hereto as **Exhibit "A"** and incorporated herein by this reference. The Plan sets forth in detail the repayment arrangement between the Debtor and its creditors. This Disclosure describes the operations of the Debtor contemplated under the Plan. Any accounting information contained herein has been provided by the Debtor and has been prepared using the cash method of accounting.

Explanation of Chapter 11

1.03. Chapter 11 is the principal reorganization chapter of the Code. Pursuant to Chapter 11, a debtor is authorized to reorganize its business for its own benefit and that of its creditors and equity interest holders. Formulation of a Plan of reorganization is the principal purpose of a Chapter 11 reorganization case. A Plan of reorganization sets forth the means for satisfying claims against and interests in the Debtor. After a Plan of reorganization has been filed, it must be accepted by holders of claims against, or interests in, the Debtor. Section 1125 of the Code requires full disclosure before solicitation of acceptances of a Plan of reorganization. This Disclosure Statement is presented to Claimants to satisfy the requirements of Section 1125 of the Code.

Explanation of the Process of Confirmation

- **1.04.** Even if all Classes of Claims accept the Plan, its confirmation may be refused by the Court. Section 1129 of the Code sets forth the requirements for confirmation and, among other things, requires that a Plan of reorganization be in the best interests of Claimants. It generally requires that the value to be distributed to Claimants and Equity Interest Holders may not be less than such parties would receive if the Debtor were liquidated under Chapter 7 of the Code.
- 1.05. Acceptance of the Plan by the Creditors and Equity Interest Holders is important. In order for the Plan to be accepted by each class of claims, the creditors that hold at least two thirds (2/3) in amount and more than one-half (1/2) in number of the allowed claims actually voting on the Plan in such class must vote for the Plan and the equity interest holders that hold at least two thirds (2/3) in amount of the allowed interests actually voting on the Plan in such class must vote for the Plan. Chapter 11 of the Code does not require that each holder of a claim against, or interest in, the Debtor vote in favor of the Plan in order for it to be confirmed by the Court. The Plan, however, must be accepted by: (i) at least the holder of one (1) class of claims by a majority in number and two-thirds (2/3) in amount of those claims of such class actually voting; or (ii) at least the holders of one (1) class of allowed interests by two-thirds (2/3) in amount of the allowed interests of such class actually voting.
- **1.06.** The Court may confirm the Plan even though less than all of the classes of claims and interests accept it. The requirements for confirmation of a Plan over the objection of one or more classes of claims or interests are set forth in Section 1129(b) of the Code.
- **1.07.** Confirmation of the Plan discharges the Debtor from all of its pre-confirmation debts and liabilities except as expressly provided for in the Plan and Section 1141(d) of the Code. Confirmation makes the Plan binding upon the Debtor and all claimants and other parties-in-interest, regardless of whether or not they have accepted the Plan.

Voting Procedures

- **1.08.** Unimpaired Class. Classes 1, 3, and 4 are not Impaired Classes.
- **1.09.** <u>Impaired Classes</u>. The Class 2, 5, and 6 Claimants are impaired as defined by Section 1124 of the Code. The Debtor are seeking the acceptance of the Plan by Claimants in Classes. Each holder of an Allowed Claim in Classes 2, 5, and 6 may vote on the Plan by completing, dating and signing the ballot sent to each holder and filing the ballot as set forth below. One ballot will be sent to each Claimant eligible to vote on the Plan. For all Classes, the ballot must be returned to the Debtor' attorney, Joyce W. Lindauer, 12720 Hillcrest Road, Suite 625, Dallas, Texas 75230 (972) 503-4033 telephone, (972) 503-4034 facsimile. In order to be counted, ballots must be RECEIVED no later than at the time and on the date stated on the ballot.
- **1.10.** <u>Acceptances.</u> Ballots that are signed and returned but fail to indicate either an acceptance or rejection will not be counted.

Best Interests of Creditors Test

1.11. Section 1129(a)(7) of the Code requires that each impaired class of claims or interests accept the Plan or receive or retain under the Plan on account of such claim or interest, property of a value as of the Effective Date of the Plan, that is not less than the amount that such holder would so receive or retain if the Debtor were liquidated under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code. If Section 1111(b)(2) of the Code applies to the claims of such class, each holder of a claim of such class will receive or retain under the Plan, on account of such claim, property of a value, as of the Effective Date of the Plan, that is not less than the value of such holder's interest in the estate's interest in the property that secures such claims. In order for the Plan to be confirmed, the Court must determine that the Plan is in the best interests of the Debtor's creditors.

Accordingly, the proposed Plan must provide the Debtor's creditors with more than they would receive in a Chapter 7 liquidation. Accordingly, since the Plan proposes to pay all secured creditors in full and the unsecured creditors a dividend, Debtor believes that the creditors are receiving as much as they would receive in a Chapter 7 liquidation. Without the continued operation of the Debtor's business there would be no funds to pay unsecured creditors any amount of the Allowed Claims. A liquidation analysis is provided in Article IV. Accordingly, the Debtor contends that the Plan satisfies the requirements of Section 1129(a)(7).

Cramdown

1.12. The Court may confirm the Plan even though less than all of the classes of claims and interests accept it. The requirements for confirmation of a Plan over the objection of one or more classes of claims or interests are set forth in Section 1129(b) of the Code.

Accordingly, Debtor, as the Plan proponents, requests the Court to determine that the Plan does not discriminate unfairly, and is fair and equitable with respect to any objecting creditor. A discussion of the specific requirements for Cramdown of a Plan are set forth starting below.

Definition of Impairment

- **1.13**. As set forth in section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code, a class of claims or equity interests is impaired under a Plan of reorganization unless, with respect to each claim or equity interest of such class, the Plan:
 - a) leaves unaltered the legal, equitable, and contractual rights of the holder of such claim or equity interest; or
 - b) notwithstanding any contractual provision or applicable law that entitles the holder of a claim or equity interest to demand or receive accelerated payment of such claim or equity interest after the occurrence of a default:
 - (i) cures any such default that occurred before or after the commencement of the case under the Bankruptcy Code, other than a default of a kind specified in section 365(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code;
 - (ii) reinstates the maturity of such claim or interest as it existed before such default;
 - (iii) compensates the holder of such claim or interest for any damages incurred as a result of any reasonable reliance on such contractual provision or such applicable law; and
 - (iv) does not otherwise alter the legal, equitable or contractual rights to which such claim or interest entitles the holder of such claim or interest.

Classification and Treatment of Claims and Interests

- **1.14.** The Plan classifies Claims separately in accordance with the Bankruptcy Code and provides different treatment for different classes of Claims.
- 1.15. Only holders of Allowed Claims are entitled to receive distributions under the Plan. Allowed Claims are Claims that are not in dispute, are not contingent, are liquidated in amount, and are not subject to objection or estimation. Initial distributions or other transfers of Cash or other consideration specified in the Plan otherwise available to the holders of Allowed Claims will be made on the Effective Date, or (b) the date on which such Claim becomes an Allowed Claim, as otherwise provided in the Plan, or as may be ordered by the Bankruptcy Court.
- **1.16**. In accordance with the Plan, unless otherwise provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, the treatment of any Claim under the Plan will be in full satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for each and every Claim.

Requirements for Confirmation of the Plan

1.17. At the confirmation hearing, the Bankruptcy Court must determine whether the Bankruptcy Code's requirements for confirmation of the Plan has been satisfied, in which event

the Bankruptcy Court will enter an order confirming the Plan. As set forth in section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code, these requirements are as follows:

- (1) The Plan complies with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.
- (2) The proponents of the Plan comply with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.
- (3) The Plan has been proposed in good faith and not by any means forbidden by law.
- (4) Any payment made or to be made by the Plan proponent, by the Debtor or by a person issuing securities or acquiring property under the Plan, for services or for costs and expenses in or in connection with the case, or in connection with the Plan and incident to the case, has been approved by, or is subject to the approval of, the court as reasonable.
- (5) (A) (i) The proponent of the Plan has disclosed the identity and affiliations of any individual proposed to serve, after confirmation of the Plan, as a director, officer, or voting trustee of the Debtor, an affiliate of the Debtor participating in a joint Plan with the Debtor, or a successor to the Debtor under the Plan; and (ii) the appointment to, or continuance in, such office of such individual, is consistent with the interests of creditors and equity security holders and with public policy; and
 - (B) the proponent of the Plan has disclosed the identity of any insider that will be employed or retained by the reorganized Debtor, and the nature of any compensation for such insider.
- (6) Any governmental regulatory commission with jurisdiction, after confirmation of the Plan, over the rates of the Debtor has approved any rate change provided for in the Plan, or such rate change is expressly conditioned on such approval.
- (7) With respect to each impaired class of claims or interests:
 - (i) each holder of a claim or interest of such class has
 - (A) accepted the Plan or
 - (B) will receive or retain under the Plan on account of such claim or interest property of a value, as of the effective date of the Plan, that is not less than the amount that such holder would so receive or retain if the Debtor were liquidated on such date under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code on such date; or
 - (ii) if section 1111(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code applies to the claims of such class, the holder of a claim of such class will receive or retain under the Plan on account of such claim property of a value, as of the effective date of the Plan, that is not less than the value of such holder's interest in the estate's interest in the property that secures such claims.
- (8) With respect to each class of claims or interests:

- (i) such class has accepted the Plan; or
- (ii) such class is not impaired under the Plan.
- (9) Except to the extent that the holder of a particular claim has agreed to a different treatment of such claim, the Plan provides that:
 - (i) with respect to a claim of a kind specified in section 507(a)(1) or 507(a)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code, on the effective date of the Plan, the holder of such claim will receive on account of such claim cash equal to the allowed amount of such claim;
 - (ii) with respect to a class of claims of a kind specified in section 507(a)(1), 507(a)(4), 507(a)(5), 507(a)(6) or 507(a)(7) of the Bankruptcy Code, each holder of a claim of such class will receive:
 - (a) if such class has accepted the Plan, deferred cash payments of a value, as of the effective date of the Plan, equal to the allowed amount of such claim; or
 - (b) if such class has not accepted the Plan, cash on the effective date of the Plan equal to the allowed amount of such claim; and
 - with respect to a claim of a kind specified in section 507(a)(7) of the (c) Bankruptcy Code, the holder of a claim will receive on account of such claim, regular installments in cash – of a total value, as of the effective date of the Plan, equal to the allowed amount of such claim; over a period ending not later than 5 years after the date of the order for relief under section 301, 302 or 303; and in a manner not less favorable than the most favored non-priority unsecured claim provided for by the Plan (other than cash payments made to any class of creditors under section 1122(b)); and with respect to a secured claim which would otherwise meet the description of an unsecured claim of a governmental unit under section 507(a)(8), but for the secured status of that claim, cash payments of a total value, as of the effective date of the Plan, equal to the allowed amount of such claim; over a period ending not later than 5 years after the date of the order for relief under section 301, 302 or 303; and in a manner not less favorable than the most favored non-priority unsecured claim provided for by the Plan (other than cash payments made to any class of creditors under section 1122(b)).
- (10) If a class of claims is impaired under the Plan, at least one class of claims that is impaired has accepted the Plan, determined without including any acceptance of the Plan by any insider holding a claim of such class.

- (11) Confirmation of the Plan is not likely to be followed by the liquidation, or the need for further financial reorganization, of the Debtor or any successor to the Debtor under the Plan, unless such liquidation or reorganization is proposed in the Plan.
- (12) All fees payable under 28 U.S.C. § 1930, as determined by the Bankruptcy Court at the hearing on confirmation of the Plan, has been paid or the Plan provides for the payments of all such fees on the effective date of the Plan.
- (13) The Plan provides for the continuation after its effective date of payment of all retiree benefits, as that term is defined in section 1114 of the Bankruptcy Code, at the level established pursuant to subsection (e)(1)(B) or (g) of section 1114, at any time prior to confirmation of the Plan, for the duration of the period the Debtor has obligated itself to provide such benefits.

The Debtor believes that the Plan satisfies all the statutory requirements of Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, that the Debtor has complied with or will has complied with all the requirements of Chapter 11, and that the Plan is proposed in good faith. At the Confirmation Hearing, the Bankruptcy Court will determine whether holders of Allowed Claims or Allowed Equity Interests would receive greater distributions under the Plan than they would receive in liquidation under chapter 7.

The Debtor believes that the feasibility requirement for confirmation of the Plan is satisfied by the fact that the future operating revenues will be sufficient to satisfy the obligations under the Plan in addition to supporting sustainable growth of the company. These facts and others demonstrating the confirmability of the Plan will be shown at the Confirmation Hearing.

Cramdown

- 1.18. The bankruptcy court may confirm a Plan of reorganization even though fewer than all the classes of impaired claims and interests accept it. For a Plan of reorganization to be confirmed despite its rejection by a class of impaired claims or interests, the proponents of the Plan must show, among other things, that the Plan does not "discriminate unfairly" and that the Plan is "fair and equitable" with respect to each impaired class of claims or interests that has not accepted the Plan.
- 1.19. "Fair and equitable" has different meanings with respect to the treatment of secured and unsecured claims. As set forth in section 1129(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code, those meanings are as follows:

With respect to a class of secured claims, the Plan provides:

(a) that the holders of such claims retain the liens securing such claims, whether the property subject to such liens is retained by the Debtor or transferred to another entity, to the extent of the allowed amount of such claims; and (ii) that each holder of a claim of such class receive on account of such claim deferred cash payments totaling at least the allowed amount of such claim, of a value, as of the effective

- date of the Plan, of at least the value of such holder's interest in the estate's interest in such property;
- (b) for the sale, subject to section 363(k) of the Bankruptcy Code, of any property that is subject to the liens securing such claims, free and clear of such liens, with such liens to attach to the proceeds of such sale, and the treatment of such liens on proceeds under clause (a) and (b) of this subparagraph; or
- (c) the realization by such holders of the "indubitable equivalent" of such claims.

With respect to a class of unsecured claims, the Plan provides:

- (a) that each holder of a claim of such class receive or retain on account of such claim property of a value, as of the effective date of the Plan, equal to the allowed amount of such claim; or
- (b) the holder of any claim or interest that is junior to the claims of such class will not receive or retain under the Plan on account of such junior claim or interest any property.

With respect to a class of interests, the Plan provides:

- (a) that each holder of an interest of such class receive or retain on account of such interest property of a value, as of the effective date of the Plan, equal to the greatest of the allowed amount of any fixed liquidation preference to which such holder is entitled, any fixed redemption price to which such holder is entitled or the value of such interest; or
- (b) that the holder of any interest that is junior to the interests of such class will not receive or retain under the Plan on account of such junior interest any property.

1.20. In the event that one or more classes of impaired Claims or Equity Interests reject the Plan, the Bankruptcy Court will determine at the Confirmation Hearing whether the Plan is fair and equitable with respect to, and does not discriminate unfairly against, any rejecting impaired class of Claims. The Debtor believes that its unsecured creditors will vote for the Plan. SO LONG AS THE CLASSES OF UNSECURED CREDITORS VOTE FOR THE PLAN THEN THE PLAN WILL NOT VIOLATE THE ABSOLUTE PRIORITY RULE. The absolute priority rule requires that prior to the Debtor retaining or receiving any property or interest the senior classes of claims must be paid in full or vote to accept the Plan.

The Debtor believes the Plan does not discriminate unfairly against, and is fair and equitable with respect to, each impaired class of Claims or Equity interests.

ARTICLE II: REPRESENTATIONS

- **2.01**. This Disclosure Statement is provided pursuant to Section 1125 of the Code to all of the Debtor's known Creditors and other parties in interest in connection with the solicitation of acceptance of its Plan of reorganization, as amended or modified. The purpose of this Disclosure Statement is to provide such information as will enable a hypothetical, reasonable investor, typical of the holders of Claims, to make an informed judgment in exercising its rights either to accept or reject the Plan.
- **2.02**. The information contained in this Disclosure Statement has been derived from information submitted by the Debtor, unless specifically stated to be from other sources.
- **2.03**. All initially capitalized and bolded words used in this Disclosure Statement has the same definitions provided for in Article I of the Plan.
- **2.04**. No representations by the Debtor are authorized other than those set forth in this Disclosure Statement. The Debtor recommends that any representation or inducement made to secure your acceptance or rejection of the Plan which is not contained in this Disclosure Statement should not be relied upon by you in reaching your decision on how to vote on the Plan. Any representation or inducement made to you not contained herein should be reported to the attorneys for the Debtor who shall deliver such information to the Court for such action as may be appropriate.
- 2.05. THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN HAS NOT BEEN SUBJECT TO A CERTIFIED AUDIT. FOR THE FOREGOING REASON, AS WELL AS BECAUSE OF THE IMPOSSIBILITY OF MAKING ASSUMPTIONS, ESTIMATES AND PROJECTIONS INTO THE FUTURE WITH ACCURACY, THE DEBTOR IS UNABLE TO WARRANT OR REPRESENT THAT THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN IS COMPLETELY ACCURATE, ALTHOUGH EVERY REASONABLE EFFORT HAS BEEN MADE TO ENSURE THAT SUCH INFORMATION IS ACCURATE. THE APPROVAL BY THE COURT OF THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN ENDORSEMENT BY THE COURT OF THE PLAN OR GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.
- 2.06. THE DEBTOR BELIEVES THAT THE PLAN WILL PROVIDE CLAIMANTS WITH AN OPPORTUNITY ULTIMATELY TO RECEIVE MORE THAN THEY WOULD RECEIVE IN A LIQUIDATION OF THE DEBTOR'S ASSETS, AND SHOULD BE ACCEPTED. CONSEQUENTLY, THE DEBTOR URGES THAT CLAIMANTS VOTE FOR THE PLAN.
- 2.07. THE DEBTOR DOES NOT WARRANT OR REPRESENT THAT THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN IS CORRECT, ALTHOUGH GREAT EFFORT HAS BEEN MADE TO BE ACCURATE. THE STATEMENTS CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT ARE MADE AS OF THE DATE HEREOF UNLESS ANOTHER TIME IS SPECIFIED HEREIN. THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT CONTAINS ONLY A SUMMARY OF THE PLAN. THE PLAN WHICH ACCOMPANIES THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT IS AN INTEGRAL PART OF THIS DISCLOSURE

STATEMENT, AND EACH CREDITOR AND INTEREST HOLDER IS URGED TO CAREFULLY REVIEW THE PLAN PRIOR TO VOTING ON IT.

ARTICLE III: FINANCIAL HISTORY AND BACKGROUND OF THE DEBTOR

3.01. Reynolds Protection, LLC provides security and protection services to high profile individuals and businesses. The Debtor is owned and operated by Chad Reynolds.

Pre-Petition Factoring Agreement

Pursuant to a Factoring and Security Agreement entered into on November 9, 2011, Landry Marks LP entered into an ongoing factoring agreement with the Debtor (the "Prepetition Factoring Agreement"). Pursuant to the Prepetition Factoring Agreement, Landry Marks LP asserted a security interest in, among other things, all of the Debtor's tangible and intangible assets, including equipment, inventory and accounts receivable as evidenced by the Prepetition Factoring Agreement and a UCC- 1 Financing Statement filed with the Texas Secretary of State.

Events Leading to Chapter 11 Filing

Reynolds Protection provided personal security services for a client in the Houston area, who subsequently declared bankruptcy before passing away. The Plan Agent for Brown Medical Center, the deceased's business, filed an adversary proceeding against the Debtor to recover fraudulent transfers made by Brown Medical Center. The Bankruptcy Court entered a judgment against the Debtor for \$290,311.00, as well as interest, and a subsequent attorneys' fees award.

Additionally, Debtor discovered that for the years 2010-2014, the Debtor's accountant had advised it that the Debtor did not owe sales taxes to the State Comptroller, on the erroneous basis that the Debtor was not required to do so. Debtor has since corrected this mistake and is current on sales taxes since 2014, but the large amount of accrued past due sales taxes meant the Comptroller was attempting to shut the Debtor down pre-bankruptcy.

Current Operations

3.02. Since the Debtor has been in bankruptcy its current operations are described in the *Exhibit* "B".

Post-Petition Financing and Factoring Agreement

Effective May 25, 2017, and pursuant to Court approval, the Debtor entered into a a post-petition factoring agreement with Landry Marks LP ("Landry Marks") whereby the Debtor sells its post-Petition Date accounts receivable to Landry Marks on an ongoing basis, and Landry Marks provides the Debtor with credit approval and collection services (the "Factoring Agreement"). All of the Debtor's obligations to Landry Marks that may arise under the Factoring Agreement are secured by a general lien and/or right of setoff against the Debtor's receivables. The Factoring Agreement renews annually, unless the Debtor givens written notice of termination.

Either Landry Marks or the Debtor may terminate the Factoring Agreement at any time upon giving at least thirty (30) days prior written notice of termination. After notice, the Factoring Agreement shall terminate on the earlier date of the date set forth in the written notice or on the anniversary date of the Factoring Agreement.

If the Factoring Agreement is terminated, the Debtor shall pay the remaining amount due to Landry Marks, and Landry Marks shall not purchase any further Accounts from the Debtor. All security interests granted or contemplated by the Factoring Agreement shall survive the termination of the Factoring Agreement until all amounts payable to Landry Marks with respect to transactions occurring on or prior to the date of termination have been paid to Landry Marks, and Debtor has performed all its obligations to Landry Marks with respect to such transactions and all obligations under the Factoring Agreement including but not limited to payment of any fees owing hereunder. At the time such obligations are discharged, Landry Marks shall provide to the Debtor a release of all claims except for those set forth at Section 10.10 and Section 30, which survive the termination of the Factoring Agreement, and will provide a UCC-3 termination statement as set forth at Section 18 of the Factoring Agreement.

Further information regarding the Factoring Agreement, including a complete copy of it, is available at Docket No. 46 on the Court's PACER site at www.txnb.uscourts.gov using the Debtor's name and/or case number as referenced above

Future Income and Expenses under the Plan

3.03. The Debtor's projections of Plan payments are set forth on *Exhibit "C"* attached hereto. Dollars to fund the Plan will come from the Debtor's continued business operations.

Future Management of the Debtor

3.04. The Plan contemplates the continued management and operation of the Debtor's business by Chad Reynolds, the owner and manager of the Debtor. The Debtor will keep current its payments for post-petition payables as it has throughout this case.

ARTICLE IV: ANALYSIS AND VALUATION OF PROPERTY

4.01. The Debtor Reynolds Protection, LLC owns the personal property described as follows as of the Petition Date:

Property	Value as of Petition Date
Bank Accounts and Cash on Hand	\$14,322.24
Accounts Receivable	\$56,600.00
Office Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment	\$1,000.00
Security Deposit for Office Lease	\$1,500.00
Client list	\$0

TOTALS \$73,422.24

Liquidation Analysis

In order to confirm a plan of reorganization, one of the things that the Debtor must prove is that it is paying to Creditors at least the liquidation value—not the fair market value—of its assets. If the Debtor's assets were sold in a Chapter 7 case by a trustee on the Confirmation Date, in a forced liquidation scenario, rather than continuing its business operations called for by the Plan, the Debtor believes the Unsecured Creditors would not receive any payment, as illustrated below:

All accounts receivable would be distributed to the Secured Creditors and the remaining assets have no significant value. Unsecured creditors would receive nothing in a liquidation.

The Debtor has prepared this Liquidation Analysis based on its opinion of the value of the assets. The Debtor is proposing to pay unsecured creditors \$30,000.00 over the life of the Plan, which is more than the Debtor believes unsecured creditors would receive in a Chapter 7. Since each holder of an unsecured claim will receive an amount that is not less than the amount that such holder would receive if the Debtor were liquidated under chapter 7, the Debtor believes the Plan has been proposed in good faith and is reasonable.

ARTICLE V: SUMMARY OF THE PLAN OF REORGANIZATION

The Plan will be funded from the continuing operations of the Debtor's business. A summary of the claims and estimated payments is attached hereto as **Exhibit "D."**

Designation of Classes of Claims and Interests

The Debtor designates the following Classes of Claims and Interests pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 1123. The Debtor shall pay all fees assessed by the Office of the United States Trustee until this Case is closed by the Court or the Debtor are otherwise released from such obligations by the Court.

The Claims and Interests classified herein shall be treated in the manner set forth in this Article V.

Administrative Expenses and Priority Tax Claims of the kinds specified in §§ 507(a)(1), 502(i) and 507(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code are excluded from the Debtor's respective classes below in accordance with § 1123(a)(1) and are not separately classified. Such expenses and claims shall be treated as specified in this Article.

Claims against Reynolds Protection, LLC, Case No. 17-30761

Class 1. Allowed Administrative Claims.

- Class 2. Allowed Secured Claim of the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts
- Class 3. Allowed Priority Claim of Internal Revenue Service
- Class 4: Allowed Secured Claim of Landry Marks, LP
- Class 5. General Unsecured Claims.
- Class 6. Equity Interests

Treatment of Allowed Administrative Expenses

Administrative Claims. Each holder of an Administrative Claim other than Professional Fee Administrative Claims shall receive, in full satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of, and in exchange for, such Allowed Administrative Claim, (i) Cash equal to the unpaid portion of such Allowed Administrative Claim or (ii) such other treatment as to which the Debtor and such holder shall has agreed upon in writing; *provided*, *however*, that Allowed Administrative Claims with respect to liabilities incurred by the Debtor in the ordinary course of business during the Bankruptcy Case shall be paid in the ordinary course of business in accordance with the terms and conditions of any agreements relating thereto. On or before the Effective Date, the Debtor shall pay or has paid in full all Allowed Administrative Claims for fees payable pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1930.

Professional Fee Administrative Claims. All persons that are awarded compensation or reimbursement of expenses by the Bankruptcy Court in accordance with sections 330 or 331 of the Bankruptcy Code or entitled to the priorities established pursuant to sections 503(b)(2), 503(b)(3), 503(b)(4), or 503(b)(5) of the Bankruptcy Code, shall be paid in full, in Cash, the amounts allowed by the Bankruptcy Court on or as soon as reasonably practicable following the later of the Effective Date or the date on which the order allowing such Claim becomes a Final Order, or upon such other terms as may be mutually agreed upon between such holder of an Allowed Professional Fee Claim and the Reorganized Debtor.

Treatment of Allowed Priority Claims

Priority Unsecured Tax Claims. Pursuant to section 1129(a)(9)(C) of the Bankruptcy Code, unless otherwise agreed by the holder of a Priority Unsecured Tax Claim and the Debtor or the Reorganized Debtor, each holder of an Allowed Priority Unsecured Tax Claim will receive, in full satisfaction of its Priority Unsecured Tax Claim, deferred cash payments over a period not exceeding five (5) years from the date of assessment of such Priority Unsecured Tax Claim. Payments will be made in equal annual installments of principal, plus interest payable at the rate provided under otherwise applicable state law from the Effective Date on the unpaid portion of each Allowed Priority Unsecured Tax Claim (or upon such other terms determined by the Bankruptcy Court to provide the holder of a Priority Unsecured Tax Claim with deferred cash payments having a value, as of the Effective Date, equal to the Allowed amount of such Priority Unsecured Tax Claim). Unless otherwise agreed by the holder of a Priority Unsecured Tax Claim and the Debtor, the first payment on account of such Priority Unsecured Tax Claim will be payable on the Effective Date or (i) after the date on which an order allowing such Priority Unsecured Tax Claim becomes a Final Order or (ii) an agreement relating to the amount and nature of the Priority Unsecured Tax Claim is executed by the Reorganized Debtor and the holder of the Priority Unsecured Tax Claim; provided, however, that the Reorganized Debtor shall has the right to pay

any Allowed Priority Unsecured Tax Claim, or any remaining balance of such Allowed Priority Unsecured Tax Claim, in full at any time on or after the Effective Date without premium or penalty.

Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1930 Fees

Debtor shall pay all fees assessed by the Office of the United States Trustee until this Case is closed by the Court or the Debtor are otherwise released from such obligations by the Court. All fees payable pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1930 after the Effective Date shall be paid by the Reorganized Debtor when they are due until the Bankruptcy Case is closed pursuant to a final decree, order of dismissal, or order of conversion. Until entry of such an order, the Reorganized Debtor shall file with the Bankruptcy Court and serve upon the United States Trustee a quarterly financial report.

Class 1 / Allowed Administrative Claims.

- a. <u>Treatment.</u> The Class 1 Claims will be paid once Allowed in full by the Debtor before the Effective Date. These claims are priority claims pursuant to Section 507(a)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code. These claims include claims for Debtor's attorney's fees, U.S. Trustee's fees, as well as any post-petition unpaid taxes. U.S. Trustee's fees must be paid until the case is closed. The Debtor must file quarterly reports following confirmation and until the case is closed. The Class 1 Claims may agree to a different treatment.
- b. <u>Impairment and Voting.</u> The Class 1 Claims are Unimpaired and the holders of the Class 1 Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

Class 2 / Allowed Secured Claims of the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts

Class 2 shall consist of the shall consist of the Allowed Secured Claims of the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts (the "Class 2 Claims").

- a. <u>Treatment.</u> The Class 2 Claims will be paid once Allowed over ten (10) years from the date of the order for relief, with interest on such amounts at the rate of 4.75% per annum by the Debtor, as required by 11 U.S.C §1129(a)(9)(C). The estimated amount in this Class is \$417,000.00.
- b. The Texas Comptroller will not be subject to setoff rights of the Debtors. Payments shall commence on the twentieth day of the month following the Effective Date and continue on the twentieth day of each month thereafter until paid in full.
- c. <u>Events of Default.</u> In the event of a default under the plan, counsel for holder of a claim in this class shall provide notice of the default via facsimile to counsel for the debtors. A failure by the reorganized Debtor to make a payment to the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts pursuant to the terms of the Plan shall be an Event of Default. If the reorganized debtor fails to cure an Event of Default as to such payments within ten (10) days after receipt of written notice of default from the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts, then the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts may (a) enforce the entire amount of its claim; (b) exercise any and all

rights and remedies the priority tax creditors may have under applicable state law; and/or (c) seek such relief as may be appropriate in the Court. The reorganized debtor shall have the opportunity to cure two (2) times over the life of the plan. In the event of the third default, the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts may proceed with the state law remedies for collection of all amounts due under state law.

- d. The Comptroller shall retain its liens to secure its claims until paid in full under this Plan.
- e. The Class 2 Claims are Impaired and the holders of the Class 2 Claims are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan

Class 3/ Allowed Priority Unsecured Claim of Internal Revenue Service

Class 3 shall consist of the Allowed Priority Unsecured Claim of the IRS (the "Class 3 Claim") in the estimated amount of \$2,322.08.

- a. <u>Treatment.</u> The Class 3 Claim shall be paid in full over 60 months at an interest rate of 4.25% per annum. Payments shall commence on the twentieth day of the month following the Effective Date and continue on the twentieth day of each month thereafter until paid in full.
- b. Events of Default for IRS. The occurrence of any of the following shall constitute an event of default under the Plan:
 - 1. Failure to Make Payments. Failure on the part of Debtor to pay fully when due any payment required to be made in respect of the Plan debt. However, due to the size and ongoing nature of the IRS's claim, upon a default under the Plan, the administrative collection powers and the rights of the IRS shall be reinstated as they existed prior to the filing of the bankruptcy petition, including, but not limited to, the assessment of taxes, the filing of a notice of Federal (or state) tax lien and the powers of levy, seizure, and as provided under the Internal Revenue Code. As to the IRS:
 - (A) If the Debtor or its successor in interest fails to make any plan payment, or deposits of any currently accruing employment or sales tax liability; or fails to make payment of any tax to the Internal Revenue Service within 10 days of the due date of such deposit or payment, or if the Debtor or its successor in interest failed to file any required federal or state tax return by the due date of such return, then the United States may declare that the Debtor is in default of the Plan. Failure to declare a default does not constitute a waiver by the United States of the right to declare that the successor in interest or Debtor is in default.
 - (B) If the United States declares the Debtor or the successor in interest to be in default of the Debtor's obligations under the Plan, then the entire

- imposed liability, together with any unpaid current liabilities, may become due and payable immediately upon written demand to the Debtor or the successor in interest.
- (C) If full payment is not made within 14 days of such demand, then the Internal Revenue Service may collect any unpaid liabilities through the administrative collection provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. The IRS shall only be required to send two notices of default, and upon the third event of Default, the IRS may proceed to collect on all amounts owed without recourse to the Bankruptcy Court and without further notice to the Debtor. The collection statute expiration date will be extended from the Petition Date until substantial default under the Plan. All payments will be sent to: IRS, 1100 Commerce Street, Mail Code 5026, DAL, Dallas, Texas 75242 Attn: Dorothy Claiborne.
- (D) The Internal Revenue Service shall not be bound by any release provisions in the Plan that would release any liability of the responsible persons of the Debtor to the IRS. The Internal Revenue Service may take such actions as it deems necessary to assess any liability that may be due and owing by the responsible persons of the Debtor to the Internal Revenue Service; but the Internal Revenue Service shall not take action to actually collect from such persons unless and until there is a default under the Plan and as set forth above.
- c. <u>Impairment and Voting</u>. The Class 3 Claim is not impaired by the Plan. The holder of a Class 3 Claim is not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan

Class 4 / Allowed Secured Claim of Landry Marks

Class 4 shall consist of the Allowed Secured Claim of Landry Marks (the "Class 4 Claim"), including the claim arising out of post-petition financing. The Debtor scheduled this claim at \$56,600.00, the amount of the accounts receivable as of the date of the petition. If the parties cannot agree on the amount of the Allowed Secured Claim, then the determination shall be made by the Court.

- a. Pre-Petition Claim. The Pre-Petition Claim was fully satisfied from collected accounts receivable and no additional or other amounts shall be paid on account of the Pre-Petition Claim.
- b. Post-Petition Claim. The Post-Petition Claim shall be satisfied from collection of accounts receivable pursuant to the post-petition financing order approved by the Court.
- c. Events of Default. Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default as described in the Factoring Agreement, in addition to any rights Landry Marks has under this Agreement or applicable law, Landry Marks shall no longer have any obligation to continue to purchase Debtor's accounts.

d. <u>Impairment and Voting.</u> The Class 4 Claim is not Impaired and the holder of this Claim is not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

Class 5 / Allowed General Unsecured Claims.

Class 5 shall consist of Allowed General Unsecured Claims (the "Class 5 Claims"), and is estimated to be approximately \$500,000.00. The Debtor has not filed claims objections and may object to certain of the unsecured claims.

- a. <u>Treatment</u>. Each holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim shall be paid its pro-rata share of \$500.00 a month over sixty (60) months, beginning on the 20th of the month following the Effective Date and continuing on the twentieth day of each month thereafter until paid in full pursuant to the Plan.
- b. <u>Impairment and Voting.</u> Class 5 is impaired by the Plan. The holders of Class 5 Claims are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

Class 6 / Allowed Equity Interests.

Class 6 shall consist of all Allowed Interests in the Debtor (the "Class 6 Claims"). On Confirmation Date, all equity interests in the Debtor shall be retained.

- a. <u>Treatment</u>. Holders of Class 6 Claims shall receive no distribution under the Plan in such capacity, and shall no right to any dividends or distributions on account of its interests, unless and until all unclassified and classified claims are paid as called for by the Plan. Class 6 shall retain ownership of the Reorganized Debtor.
- b. <u>Impairment and Voting</u>. Class 6 is impaired by the Plan. The holders of the Class 6 Interests are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan. The votes in this Class shall not count towards determining whether an impaired Class has voted to accept or reject this Plan.

ARTICLE VI: MEANS FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF PLAN

6.01. Implementation of the Plan. This Plan will be implemented, pursuant to § 1123(a)(5) of the Code, by the commencement of payments as called for above. The Plan will be implemented, pursuant to Section 1123(a)(5) of the Code, by the commencement of payments as called for in the Plan. The Debtor shall be responsible for making payments to the Classes 1-6 Creditor Classes. Projections for this Plan are attached to the Disclosure Statement and incorporated herein by this reference as if set forth in full for all purposes. No liens shall be preserved unless expressly reflected as continuing in this Plan.

The funds necessary for the satisfaction of the creditors' claims shall be generated from Debtor's continued business operations called for by this Plan.

ARTICLE VII: TREATMENT OF EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES

7.01. Assumption of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases. On the Effective Date, and to the extent permitted by applicable law, every executory contract and unexpired lease of the Debtor shall be deemed accepted unless such executory contract or unexpired lease (a) has been rejected pursuant an order of the Bankruptcy Court; (b) is identified in the Plan, a Plan Supplement or the Confirmation Order to be rejected; or (c) is the subject of a pending motion to assume filed on or before the Confirmation Hearing.

Debtor intends to assume all three of the executory contracts or leases identified in its Schedule G, and below. The Debtor will cure any default by the Effective Date of the Plan.

Other Party	Contract or Lease For?	Cure Amount
BlueCross Blue Shield	Employee health insurance	\$1,700.00
Boxer Property	Leased office space at 1910 Pacific Avenue,	\$0.00
	Suite 500, Dallas, Texas	
Verizon Wireless	Mobile phone contract	\$0.00

- 7.02. Reservation of Rights. The Debtor has the right to assume or reject, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code 365, prior to the Confirmation Date, any executory contract or unexpired lease of real property (to the extent permitted under the Bankruptcy Code) and to the terms of this Plan. Neither the exclusion nor inclusion of any contract or lease in the Plan shall constitute an admission by the Debtor that any such contract or lease is in fact an executory contract or unexpired lease or that the Debtor has any liability thereunder. If there is a dispute regarding whether a contract or lease is or was executory or unexpired at the time of assumption or rejection, the Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, shall have thirty (30) days following entry of a Final Order resolving such dispute to alter its treatment of such contract or lease
- **7.03.** Bar Date for Claims Based on Rejection. If the rejection of an executory contract or an unexpired lease by the Debtor results in damages to the other party or parties to such contract

or lease, a Claim for such damages shall be forever barred and shall not be enforceable against the Debtor or its agents, successors, or assigns, unless a proof of Claim is filed with the Bankruptcy Court and served upon the Debtor, by the earlier of (a) the end of the month following the period in which the Effective Date occurs or (b) such other deadline as the Court may set for asserting a Claim for such damages. Any Rejection Claim arising from the rejection of an unexpired lease or executory contract shall be treated as a General Unsecured Claim; *provided, however*, that any Rejection Claim based upon the rejection of an unexpired lease or real property either prior to the Confirmation Date or upon the entry of the Confirmation Order shall be limited in accordance with section 502(b)(6) of the Bankruptcy Code and state law mitigation requirements. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed an admission by the Debtor that such rejection gives rise to or results in a Claim or shall be deemed a waiver by the Debtor of any objections to such Claim if asserted.

ARTICLE VIII: FEASIBILITY OF PLAN

8.01. The **Debtor assert that this Plan** is feasible based on the information attached hereto as **Exhibit "C"** which summarizes the projected operations of the Debtor's business following confirmation of a Plan in this case.

Procedure for Filing Proofs of Claims and Proofs of Interests

- **8.02.** All proofs of claims and proofs of interests must be filed by those Claimants who have not filed such instruments on or before the Bar Date fixed by the Court. The Bar Date for non-governmental parties was <u>July 5, 2017</u>. The Bar Date for governmental entities is <u>August 29, 2017</u>.
- **8.03.** If Claimants have already filed a proof of claim with the Court or are listed in the Debtor's Schedules as holding non-contingent, liquidated, and undisputed claims, a proof of claim need not be filed. The schedules and amendments thereto are on file with the Court and are open for inspection during regular Court hours. If the equity security interest of an Equity Interest Holder is properly reflected in the Schedules of the Debtor, a proof of interest need not be filed.

ARTICLE IX: ALTERNATIVES TO DEBTOR' PLAN

- **10.01.** If the Debtor's Plan is not confirmed, the Debtor's bankruptcy case may be converted to a case under Chapter 7 of the Code, in which case a trustee would be appointed to liquidate the assets of the Debtor for distribution to its Creditors in accordance with the priorities of the Code. Since the Debtor's primary assets (accounts receivable) are subject to liens there would be no distribution to unsecured creditors in Chapter 7.
- **10.02**. The Debtor has no avoidable transactions according to its pre-petition books and records.

ARTICLE X: RISKS TO CREDITORS UNDER THE DEBTOR' PLAN

11.01. Claimants should be aware that there are a number of substantial risks involved in consummation of the Plan. The Plan contemplates that the Debtor's business will generate revenue sufficient to pay the obligations accruing from its operations. The Debtor does not "guarantee" that the expenses will equal those in the projections; however, the Debtor believes that the projections are reasonable, based on the Debtor's past and present business operations.

ARTICLE XI: TAX CONSEQUENCES

12.01 Implementation of the Plan may result in federal income tax consequences to holders of claims and to the Debtor. Tax consequences to a particular Creditor may depend on the particular circumstances or facts regarding the Claim of the Creditor.

TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH U.S. TREASURY DEPARTMENT CIRCULAR 230, HOLDERS OF CLAIMS ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT: (A) ANY DISCUSSION OF UNITED STATES FEDERAL TAX ISSUES IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT IS NOT INTENDED OR WRITTEN TO BE USED OR RELIED UPON, AND CANNOT BE USED OR RELIED UPON, BY HOLDERS OF CLAIMS OR INTERESTS OR ANY OTHER PERSONS FOR THE PURPOSE OF AVOIDING PENALTIES THAT MAY BE IMPOSED ON HOLDERS OF CLAIMS OR ANY OTHER PERSONS UNDER THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE; (B) SUCH DISCUSSION IS INCLUDED HEREIN IN CONNECTION WITH THE PROMOTION OR MARKETING (WITHIN THE MEANING OF U.S. TREASURY DEPARTMENT CIRCULAR 230) OF THE TRANSACTIONS OR MATTERS ADDRESSED HEREIN; AND (C) HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS SHOULD SEEK ADVICE BASED ON ITS PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES FROM AN INDEPENDENT TAX ADVISER.

A. Introduction

The following discussion summarizes certain material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Plan to the Debtor and holders of Claims and Interests. The summary is provided for general informational purposes only and is based on the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Tax Code"), the treasury regulations promulgated thereunder, judicial authority and current administrative rulings and practice, all as in effect as of the date hereof (except as otherwise noted below with regard to the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009), and all of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect. Changes in any of these authorities or in its interpretation could cause the United States federal income tax consequences of the Plan to differ materially from the consequences described below. The United States federal income tax consequences of the Plan are complex and in important respects uncertain. No ruling has been requested from the Internal Revenue Service (the —ServiceI); no opinion has been requested from Debtor' counsel concerning any tax consequence of the Plan; and no tax opinion is given by this Disclosure Statement.

The following discussion does not address all aspects of federal income taxation that may be relevant to a particular holder of a Claim or Interest in light of its particular facts and circumstances or to particular types of holders of Claims subject to special treatment under the Tax Code. For example, the discussion does not address issues of concern to broker-dealers or other dealers in securities, or foreign (non-U.S.) persons, nor does it address any aspects of state, local, or foreign (non-U.S.) taxation, or the taxation of holders of Interests in a Debtor. In addition, a substantial amount of time may elapse between the Confirmation Date and the receipt of a final distribution under the Plan. Events subsequent to the date of this Disclosure Statement, such as the enactment of additional tax legislation, court decisions or administrative changes, could affect the federal income tax consequences of the Plan and the transactions contemplated hereunder.

On February 13, 2009, the House of Representatives and the Senate passed H.R.1, the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (the Recovery Act), a stimulus bill that includes tax breaks for businesses and individuals. The President signed the Recovery Act on February 17, 2009. The following discussion does not address any aspects of the Recovery Act, some of which may be relevant to a particular holder of a Claim or an Interest.

THE DISCUSSION THAT FOLLOWS IS NOT A SUBSTITUTE FOR CAREFUL TAX PLANNING AND PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE BASED ON THE INDIVIDUAL CIRCUMSTANCES OF EACH HOLDER OF A CLAIM OR INTEREST. EACH HOLDER OF A CLAIM OR INTEREST IS URGED TO CONSULT WITH ITS TAX ADVISORS REGARDING THE FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL, AND NON-U.S. TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLAN.

B. Certain Definitions

Except as expressly otherwise provided or unless the context otherwise requires, all capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein or in the Plan shall has the respective meanings assigned to them in this Article.

"COD" shall mean cancellation of indebtedness income.

C. Certain Material Federal Income Tax Consequences to the Debtor

Cancellation of a debtor's debt is generally taxable income to the Debtor. COD is the amount by which the indebtedness of a debtor discharged exceeds any consideration given in exchange therefore. Cancellation of a debt may not necessarily be COD, however. To the extent that the debtor is insolvent, or if the Debtor is in bankruptcy, as is the case here, the Tax Code permits the Debtor to exclude the COD from its gross income. The statutory exclusion for COD in a title 11 case generally excludes COD from gross income if the discharge is granted by a court to a Debtor under its jurisdiction in a title 11 case, as is sought herein.

The price for the bankruptcy COD exclusion (as well as the insolvency exclusion) is reduction of the Debtor's tax attributes to the extent of the COD income, generally in the following order: NOLs for the year of the discharge and NOL carryovers from prior years; general business tax

[&]quot;NOL" shall mean net operating loss.

credit carryovers; minimum tax credit available as of the beginning of the year following the year of discharge; net capital loss for the year of discharge and capital loss carryovers from prior years; basis of the Debtor's assets; passive activity loss and credit carryovers from the year of discharge; and foreign tax credit carryovers to or from the year of discharge. The reduction of attributes does not occur until after the end of the Debtor's tax year in which the COD occurred, so they are available to the Debtor in determining the amount of its income, loss and tax liability for the year of discharge.

The United States federal income tax consequences of payment of Allowed Claims pursuant to the Plan will depend on, among other things, the consideration received, or deemed to has been received, by the holder of the Allowed Claim, whether such holder reports income on the accrual or cash method, whether such holder receives distributions under the Plan in more than one taxable year, whether such holder's Claim is allowed or disputed at the Effective Date, whether such holder has taken a bad debt deduction or worthless security deduction with respect to its Claim.

In general, a holder of a Claim should recognize gain or loss equal to the amount realized under the Plan in respect of its Claim less the amount of such holder's basis in its Claim. Any gain or loss recognized in the exchange may be long-term or short-term capital gain or loss or ordinary income or loss, depending upon the nature of the Claim and the holder, the length of time the holder held the Claim and whether the Claim was acquired at a market discount. If the holder realizes a capital loss, its deduction of the loss may be subject to limitations under the Tax Code. The holder's aggregate tax basis for any property received under the Plan generally will equal the amount realized. The amount realized by a holder generally will equal the sum of the cash and the fair market value of any other property received (or deemed received) by the holder under the Plan on the Effective Date and/or any subsequent distribution date, less the amount (if any) allocable to Claims for interest. All holders of Allowed Claims are urged to consult its tax advisors. A holder of a Claim constituting an installment obligation for tax purposes may be required to recognize currently any gain remaining with respect to the obligation if, pursuant to the Plan, the obligation is considered to be satisfied at other than its face value, distributed, transmitted, sold or otherwise disposed of within the meaning of Section 453B of the Tax Code.

D. Importance of Obtaining Professional Tax Assistance

The foregoing discussion is intended only as a summary of certain U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Plan, and is not a substitute for careful tax planning with a tax professional. The above discussion is for general information purposes only and is not tax advice. The tax consequences are in many cases uncertain and may vary depending on a holder's individual circumstances. CLAIMANTS ARE URGED TO CONSULT ITS OWN TAX ADVISOR AS TO THE CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLAN TO THEM UNDER FEDERAL AND APPLICABLE STATE AND LOCAL TAX LAWS.

ARTICLE XII: PENDING LITIGATION

13.01. As of the date of the filing of this Disclosure Statement, the significant matters pending as follows:

- None in Bankruptcy Court.
- Litigation in state court: *Elizabeth M. Guffy, Plan Agent v. Reynolds Protection,* Cause No. 2017-10042, in the 270th District Court of Harris County, was stayed by the bankruptcy filing.

ARTICLE XIII: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ORDERS ENTERED DURING THE CASE

14.01. As of the date of the filing of this Disclosure Statement the following significant orders has been entered in this case: Employment of Professionals, Order Approving Post-Petition Financing and those relating to general administration of the case.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Joyce W. Lindauer

Joyce W. Lindauer

State Bar No. 21555700

Sarah M. Cox

California State Bar No. 245475

Jamie N. Kirk

State Bar No. 24076485

Jeffery M. Veteto

State Bar No. 24098548

JOYCE W. LINDAUER ATTORNEY, PLLC

12720 Hillcrest Road, Suite 625

Dallas, Texas 75230

Telephone: (972) 503-4033 Facsimile: (972) 503-4034 ATTORNEYS FOR DEBTOR

/s/ Chad Reynolds

Member-Manager, Reynolds Protection LLC

Joyce W. Lindauer
State Bar No. 21555700
Sarah M. Cox
California State Bar No. 245475
Jamie N. Kirk
State Bar No. 24076485
Jeffery M. Veteto
State Bar No. 24098548
Joyce W. Lindauer Attorney, PLLC
12720 Hillcrest Road, Suite 625
Dallas, Texas 75230
Telephone: (972) 503-4033
Facsimile: (972) 503-4034
ATTORNEYS FOR DEBTOR

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS DALLAS DIVISION

IN RE:	§	
	§	
REYNOLDS PROTECTION LLC,	§	CASE NO. 17-30761-bjh
	§	•
Debtor.	Š	Chapter 11

REYNOLDS PROTECTION, LLC PLAN OF REORGANIZATION DATED JULY 31, 2017

Reynolds Protection, LLC (the "Debtor"), proposes the following Plan of Reorganization ("Plan") Dated July 31, 2017, pursuant to Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code on behalf of the Debtor. The Debtor's profitability to fund the Plan is based on the amount of money that it will earn through the continuation of its business. The Debtor shall file periodic financial reports with the Court, as required by the Code, covering the Debtor's profitability, projections of cash receipts and disbursements for a reasonable period and a comparison of actual cash receipts and disbursements with projections in prior reports. These reports shall be available on the Court's PACER site at www.txnb.uscourts.gov using the Debtor's name and/or case number as referenced above.

EXHIBIT "A"

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I: DEFINITIONS AND USE OF TERMS	3
ARTICLE II: CONCEPT OF THE PLAN	7
ARTICLE III: GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS	7
ARTICLE IV: DESIGNATION OF CLASSES OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS	8
ARTICLE V: PROVISIONS FOR PAYMENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES A PRIORITY TAX CLAIMS	
TREATMENT OF ALLOWED ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES	9
ARTICLE VI: TREATMENT OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS	9
Class 1 / Allowed Administrative Claims	10 10 12 12
ARTICLE VII: VOTING	13
ARTICLE VIII: MEANS FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF PLANARTICLE IX TREATMENT OF EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES	
ARTICLE X: ENFORCEMENT, SETTLEMENT, OR ADJUSTMENT OF CLAIMS	14
ARTICLE XI: EFFECT OF CONFIRMATION	15
ARTICLE XII: MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	16
ARTICLE XIII: MODIFICATION OF THE PLAN	18
ARTICLE XIV. ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS	18

ARTICLE I: DEFINITIONS AND USE OF TERMS

1.01 <u>Introduction</u>

This Plan is proposed by and on behalf of the Debtor under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. Reference is made to the associated Disclosure Statement for a discussion of the Debtor's history, results of operations, historical financial information, and assets, and for a summary and analysis of the Plan. All holders of Claims against and Interests in the Debtor are encouraged to read the Plan and the Disclosure Statement in their entirety before voting to accept or reject the Plan.

- **1.02** <u>Defined Terms</u>. Unless the context otherwise requires, capitalized terms shall have the meanings set forth in this section
 - Administrative Claim or Expense means an administrative expense or Claim described in Section 503 of the Bankruptcy Code and entitled to administrative priority pursuant to Section 507(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code, including, but not limited to, Claims for compensation of professionals made pursuant to Sections 330 and 331 of the Bankruptcy Code, and all fees and charges assessed against the Debtor and Debtor's property under 28 U.S.C. Section 1930.
 - **Administrative** Tax Claim means an Unsecured Claim by any governmental unit for taxes (including interest or penalties related to such taxes) for any tax year or period, all or a portion of which occurs or falls within the period from and including the Petition Date through the Effective Date.
 - Allowed Claim means a Claim against the Debtor allowable under the Bankruptcy Code to the extent that (i) a proof of Claim, proof of Interest, or request for payment was timely Filed or, with leave of the Bankruptcy Court, late Filed, and as to which no objection has been timely Filed or, if Filed, is allowed by a Final Order, unless otherwise provided in this Plan or (ii) the Claim is scheduled and not listed as disputed, contingent, or unliquidated, and to which no objection has been timely Filed or, if Filed, is allowed by a Final Order.
 - **Allowed Secured Claim** means any Allowed Claim secured by a lien, security interest, or other charge or interest in property in which the Debtor has an interest, to the extent of the value thereof (determined in accordance with Bankruptcy Code Section 506(a)).
 - 1.02.5 <u>Bankruptcy Code or Code</u> means the United States Bankruptcy Code, Title 11 of the United States Code Section 101 et seq., as amended.

- **Bankruptcy** Court means the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas, Dallas Division or such other court that may have jurisdiction with respect to the reorganization of the Debtor pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code.
- **1.02.7 Bankruptcy Rule** means the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure.
- 1.02.8 <u>Bar Date</u> means subsequent to which a proof of pre-petition Claim may not timely be Filed or the date by which proofs of claims held by governmental agencies must be filed.
- **1.02.9** Case means this Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Case in the Bankruptcy Court.
- **1.02.10** Claim shall have the meaning set forth in Bankruptcy Code Section 101(5).
- **Claimant** means any person or entity having or asserting a Claim in the case.
- 1.02.12 <u>Class</u> or <u>Classes</u> mean all of the holders of Claims or Interests that the Debtor has designated pursuant to Section 1123(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code as having substantially similar characteristics as described in Article IV of this Plan.
- **Confirmation** means the entry by the Bankruptcy Court of a Confirmation Order confirming this Plan.
- **1.02.14** Confirmation Date means the date on which the Confirmation Order is entered.
- **Confirmation Hearing** means the hearing or hearings held before the Bankruptcy Court in which the Debtor will seek Confirmation of this Plan.
- **Confirmation Order** means the Order of the Court confirming this Plan under Section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 1.02.17 Contested when used with respect to a Claim, means a Claim against the Debtor (a) that is listed in the Debtor's Schedules of Assets and Liabilities as disputed, contingent, or unliquidated; (b) that is the subject of a pending action in a forum other than the Bankruptcy Court unless such Claim has been determined by Final Order in such other forum and Allowed by Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court; or (c) as to which an objection has been or may be timely filed and has not been denied by Final Order. To the extent an objection relates to the allowance of only a part of a Claim, such Claim shall be a Contested Claim only to the extent of the objection.
- **1.02.18** Creditor shall have the meaning specified by Section 101(9) of the Code.

- **1.02.19 Debtor** means Reynolds Protection, LLC.
- **1.02.20 Disputed Claim** means any Claim that is not an Allowed Claim.
- **1.02.21 Effective Date** means thirty days after the Confirmation Date.
- **Estate** means the estate created pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 541 with respect to the Debtor.
- **1.02.23** <u>Fee Claim</u> means a Claim under Bankruptcy Code Sections 330 or 503 for allowance of compensation and reimbursement of expenses to professionals in the Debtor's Chapter 11 case.
- **1.02.24** Filed means delivered to the Clerk of the Bankruptcy Court.
- 1.02.25 <u>Final Order</u> means an Order as to which any appeal that has been taken has not been stayed following the expiration of the time for appeal or has been resolved, or as to which the time for appeal has expired.
- **General Unsecured Claim** means Unsecured Claim that is not entitled to priority under Section 507(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 1.02.27 **Impaired** means the treatment of an Allowed Claim pursuant to the Plan unless, with respect to such Claim, either (I) the Plan leaves unaltered the legal, equitable and contractual rights to which such Claim entitles the holder of such Claim, or (ii) notwithstanding any contractual provision or applicable law that entitles the holder of such Claim to demand or receive accelerated payment of such Claim after occurrence of a default, the Debtor (A) cures any default that occurred before or after the commencement of the Chapter 11 Case on the Petition Date, other than default of the kind specified in Section 365(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code; (B) reinstates the maturity of such Claim as such maturity existed before such default; (C) compensates the holder of such Claim for any damages incurred as a result of any reasonable reliance by such holder on such contractual provision or such applicable law; and (D) does not otherwise alter the legal, equitable or contractual rights to which such Claim entitles the holder of such Claim; or (iii) the Plan provides that on the Effective Date, the holder of such Claim receives, on account of such Claim, cash equal to the Allowed Amount of such Claim.
- **Petition Date** means March 2, 2017, the date the Debtor's petition was filed commencing this bankruptcy case.
- **Plan** means this Plan of Reorganization, as it may be amended or modified from time to time as permitted herein and by the Bankruptcy Court.

- **1.02.30 Pre-petition** means prior to the Petition Date.
- 1.02.31 <u>Priority Tax Claim</u> means a Claim entitled to priority pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 507(a)(8).
- 1.02.32 <u>Pro Rata</u> means proportionately, based on the percentage that the amount of an Allowed Claim within a particular Class bears to the aggregate amount of all Allowed Claims in such Class.
- 1.02.33 Property of the Estate means all property in which the Debtor holds a legal or an equitable interest, including all property described in Bankruptcy Code Section 541.
- **Rejection** Claim means any Claim arising pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 502(g) by reason of rejection by the Debtor of an executory contract or unexpired lease pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Sections 365 or 1123(b)(2).
- 1.02.35 <u>Secured Claim</u> means any Claim secured by a lien, security interest, or other charge or interest in property in which the Debtor has an interest, to the extent of the value thereof (determined in accordance with Bankruptcy Code Section 506(a)).
- **Secured Tax Claim** means any Tax Claim which is secured by real or personal property.
- **1.02.37** Secured Creditor or Secured Claimant means any Claimant holding a Secured Claim.
- **1.02.38 Unimpaired** means not Impaired.
- **1.02.39** <u>Unsecured Claim</u> means any Claim not collateralized (or the extent not fully collateralized) by assets of the Debtor.
- **1.02.40** <u>Unsecured Claimants</u> or <u>Unsecured Creditors</u> means any holder of an Unsecured Claim.
- **1.02.41** <u>Voidable Transfer</u> means all transfers voidable under Sections 544, 545, 547, 548, 549 and/or 550 of the Code or any other state or federal transfer.
- 1.03 <u>Number and Gender of Words</u>. Whenever the singular number is used, it shall include the plural, and the plural shall include the singular, as appropriate to the context. Words of any gender shall include each other gender where appropriate.
 - 1.04 Terms Defined in the Bankruptcy Code. Capitalized terms not specifically

defined in section 1.01 of the Plan shall have the definitions given those terms, if applicable, in the Bankruptcy Code.

- **1.05** <u>Headings</u>. The headings and captions used in this Plan are for convenience only and shall not be deemed to limit, amplify or modify the terms of this Plan nor affect the meaning thereof.
- **1.06** <u>Time Computation.</u> In computing any period of time prescribed herein, the provisions of Federal Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure Rule 9006(a) shall apply.

ARTICLE II: CONCEPT OF THE PLAN

- **2.01** Generally. The Plan is a plan of reorganization. The Debtor shall continue its business after the Confirmation Date. The Debtor is a protection and security services firm, providing personal protection and event security services for high profile individuals in the Dallas-Fort Worth Area.
- **2.02** The Plan will be funded from the continuing operations of the Debtor. No changes to management or otherwise are expected. The business's primary intangible asset is its goodwill and association with the owner and founder, Chad Reynolds.
- **2.03** Reorganized Debtor. After Confirmation of the Plan by the Bankruptcy Court and upon the occurrence of the Effective Date, the Debtor shall become the Reorganized Debtor.

ARTICLE III: GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS

3.01 <u>Treatment of Claims</u>. This Plan is intended to resolve all Claims against the Debtor and/or property of the Debtor of whatever character, whether contingent or liquidated, or whether allowed by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 502(a). However, only Allowed Claims will receive treatment afforded by the Plan. The Plan is designed to ensure that Claimants shall receive at least as much pursuant to this Plan as they would receive in a liquidation pursuant to Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code.

Liabilities incurred from the Petition Date through the Effective Date in the ordinary course of business shall be paid in the ordinary course of business by the Debtor.

3.02 <u>Modification to the Plan</u>. In accordance with Bankruptcy Rule 3019, to the extent applicable, this Plan may be modified or amended upon application of the Debtor, or corrected prior to the Confirmation Date, provided that notice and an opportunity for hearing have been given to any affected party. The Plan may be modified at any time after Confirmation and before the Effective Date, provided that the Plan, as modified, meets the requirements of sections 1122 and 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code and the Bankruptcy Court, after notice and a hearing, confirms the Plan, as modified, under section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code, the circumstances warrant such modification and Debtor consents thereto in writing. If the debtor is an individual the plan may be modified at any time after confirmation of the plan, but before the completion of

payments under the plan, whether or not the plan has been substantially consummated upon request of the debtor, the trustee, the United States Trustee, or the holder of an allowed unsecured claim, to - (1) increase or reduce the amount of payments on claims of a particular class provided for by the plan; (2) extend or reduce the time period for such payments; or (3) alter the amount of the distribution to a creditor whose claim is provided for by the plan to the extent necessary to take account of any payment of such claim made other than under the plan.

ARTICLE IV: DESIGNATION OF CLASSES OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS

The Debtor designates the following Classes of Claims and Interests pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 1123. The Debtor shall pay all fees assessed by the Office of the United States Trustee until this Case is closed by the Court or the Debtor is otherwise released from such obligations by the Court.

Class	Claims	Estimated Amount
1	Allowed Administrative Claims	\$15,000.00
2	Allowed Secured Claim of Texas Comptroller	\$417,000.00
3	Allowed Priority Claims of IRS	\$2,322.08
4	Allowed Secured Claim of Landry Marks	\$0.00
5	Allowed General Unsecured Claims	\$500,000.00
6	Equity Interests	\$0.00

ARTICLE V: PROVISIONS FOR PAYMENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES AND PRIORITY TAX CLAIMS

Administrative Expenses and Priority Tax Claims of the kinds specified in §§ 507(a)(l), 502(i) and 507(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code are excluded from the Debtor's respective classes below in accordance with § 1123(a)(l) and are not separately classified. Such expenses and claims shall be treated as specified in this Article.

5.01 <u>Administrative Claims</u>. Each holder of an Administrative Claim other than Professional Fee Administrative Claims shall receive, in full satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of, and in exchange for, such Allowed Administrative Claim, (i) Cash equal to the unpaid portion of such Allowed Administrative Claim or (ii) such other treatment as to which the Debtor and such holder shall have agreed upon in writing; provided, however, that Allowed Administrative Claims with respect to liabilities incurred by the Debtor in the ordinary course of business during the Bankruptcy Case shall be paid in the ordinary course of business in accordance with the terms and conditions of any agreements relating thereto. On or before the Effective Date, the Debtor shall pay or have paid in full all Allowed Administrative Claims for the Effective Date shall be paid by the Reorganized Debtor when they are due until the Bankruptcy Case is closed pursuant to a final decree, order of dismissal, or order of conversion. Until entry of such an order, the Reorganized Debtor shall file with the Bankruptcy Court and serve upon the United States

Trustee a quarterly financial report. Any administrative ad valorem tax claims shall be paid pursuant to otherwise applicable state law.

5.02 Professional Fee Administrative Claims. All persons that are awarded compensation or reimbursement of expenses by the Bankruptcy Court in accordance with sections 330 or 331 of the Bankruptcy Code or entitled to the priorities established pursuant to sections 503(b)(2), 503(b)(3), 503(b)(4), or 503(b)(5) of the Bankruptcy Code, shall be paid in full, in Cash, the amounts allowed by the Bankruptcy Court on or as soon as reasonably practicable following the later of the Effective Date or the date on which the order allowing such Claim becomes a Final Order, or upon such other terms as may be mutually agreed upon between such holder of an Allowed Professional Fee Claim and the Reorganized Debtor.

Treatment of Allowed Administrative Expenses

Allowed Administrative Expenses will be paid in full once Allowed, on or before the Effective Date, or at a later date as set by the Court if the allowance process extends beyond the Effective Date. Provided, however, that the holder of an Allowed Administrative Expense may agree to a different treatment.

Treatment of Allowed Priority Claims

Allowed Priority Claims will be paid by the Reorganized Debtor once Allowed over five (5) years with interest on such amounts at the rate of 12% per annum until paid in full. The payments shall be made in equal monthly payments on the first day of the month following the Effective Date and shall continue on the first day of each month thereafter until paid in full.

Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1930 Fees

Debtor shall pay all fees assessed by the Office of the United States Trustee until this Case is closed by the Court or the Debtor is otherwise released from such obligations by the Court.

ARTICLE VI: TREATMENT OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS

Debtor designates the following Classes of Claims and Interests pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 1122, which shall be treated in the manner set forth in this Article.

Class 1 / Allowed Administrative Claims.

a. <u>Treatment.</u> The Class 1 Claims will be paid once Allowed in full by the Debtor before the Effective Date. These claims are priority claims pursuant to Section 507(a)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code. These claims include claims for Debtor's attorney's fees, U.S. Trustee's fees, as well as any post-petition unpaid taxes. U.S. Trustee's fees must be paid until the case is closed. The Debtor must file quarterly reports following confirmation and until the case is closed. The Class 1 Claims may agree to a different treatment.

b. <u>Impairment and Voting.</u> The Class 1 Claims are Unimpaired and the holders of the Class 1 Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

Class 2 / Allowed Secured Claims of the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts

Class 2 shall consist of the shall consist of the Allowed Secured Claims of the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts (the "Class 2 Claims").

- a. <u>Treatment.</u> The Class 2 Claims will be paid once Allowed over ten (10) years from the date of the order for relief, with interest on such amounts at the rate of 4.75% per annum by the Debtor, as required by 11 U.S.C §1129(a)(9)(C). The estimated amount in this Class is \$417,000.00.
- b. The Texas Comptroller will not be subject to setoff rights of the Debtor. Payments shall commence on the twentieth day of the month following the Effective Date and continue on the twentieth day of each month thereafter until paid in full.
- c. Events of Default. In the event of a default under the plan, counsel for holder of a claim in this class shall provide notice of the default via facsimile to counsel for the Debtor. A failure by the reorganized Debtor to make a payment to the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts pursuant to the terms of the Plan shall be an Event of Default. If the reorganized debtor fails to cure an Event of Default as to such payments within ten (10) days after receipt of written notice of default from the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts, then the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts may (a) enforce the entire amount of its claim; (b) exercise any and all rights and remedies the priority tax creditors may have under applicable state law; and/or (c) seek such relief as may be appropriate in the Court. The reorganized debtor shall have the opportunity to cure two (2) times over the life of the plan. In the event of the third default, the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts may proceed with the state law remedies for collection of all amounts due under state law.
- d. The Comptroller shall retain its liens to secure its claims until paid in full under this Plan.
- e. The Class 2 Claims are Impaired and the holders of the Class 2 Claims are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan

Class 3 / Allowed Priority Unsecured Claim of Internal Revenue Service

Class 3 shall consist of the Allowed Priority Unsecured Claim of the IRS (the "Class 3 Claim") in the estimated amount of \$2,322.08.

a. <u>Treatment.</u> The Class 3 Claims shall be paid in full over 60 months at an interest rate of 4.25% per annum. Payments shall commence on the twentieth day of the month following the Effective Date and continue on the twentieth day of each month thereafter until paid in full.

- b. <u>Events of Default for IRS</u>. The occurrence of any of the following shall constitute an event of default under the Plan:
 - 1. Failure to Make Payments. Failure on the part of Debtor to pay fully when due any payment required to be made in respect of the Plan debt. However, due to the size and ongoing nature of the IRS's claim, upon a default under the Plan, the administrative collection powers and the rights of the IRS shall be reinstated as they existed prior to the filing of the bankruptcy petition, including, but not limited to, the assessment of taxes, the filing of a notice of Federal (or state) tax lien and the powers of levy, seizure, and as provided under the Internal Revenue Code. As to the IRS:
 - (A) If the Debtor or its successor in interest fails to make any plan payment, or deposits of any currently accruing employment or sales tax liability; or fails to make payment of any tax to the Internal Revenue Service within 10 days of the due date of such deposit or payment, or if the Debtor or its successor in interest failed to file any required federal or state tax return by the due date of such return, then the United States may declare that the Debtor is in default of the Plan. Failure to declare a default does not constitute a waiver by the United States of the right to declare that the successor in interest or Debtor is in default.
 - (B) If the United States declares the Debtor or the successor in interest to be in default of the Debtor's obligations under the Plan, then the entire imposed liability, together with any unpaid current liabilities, may become due and payable immediately upon written demand to the Debtor or the successor in interest.
 - (C) If full payment is not made within 14 days of such demand, then the Internal Revenue Service may collect any unpaid liabilities through the administrative collection provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. The IRS shall only be required to send two notices of default, and upon the third event of Default, the IRS may proceed to collect on all amounts owed without recourse to the Bankruptcy Court and without further notice to the Debtor. The collection statute expiration date will be extended from the Petition Date until substantial default under the Plan. All payments will be sent to: IRS, 1100 Commerce Street, Mail Code 5026, DAL, Dallas, Texas 75242 Attn: Dorothy Claiborne.
 - (D) The Internal Revenue Service shall not be bound by any release provisions in the Plan that would release any liability of the responsible persons of the Debtor to the IRS. The Internal Revenue Service may take such actions as it deems necessary to assess any liability that may be due and owing by the responsible persons of the Debtor to the Internal Revenue Service; but the Internal Revenue Service shall not take action to actually collect from such persons unless and until there is a default under the Plan

and as set forth above.

c. <u>Impairment and Voting</u>. Class 3 Claim is not impaired by the Plan. The holder of a Class 3 Claim is not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan

Class 4 / Allowed Secured Claim of Landry Marks

Class 4 shall consist of the Allowed Secured Claim of Landry Marks (the "Class 4 Claim"), including the claim arising out of post-petition financing. If the parties cannot agree on the amount of the Allowed Secured Claim, then the determination shall be made by the Court.

- a. Pre-Petition Claim. The Pre-Petition Claim was fully satisfied from collected accounts receivable and no additional or other amounts shall be paid on account of the Pre-Petition Claim.
- b. Post-Petition Claim. The Post-Petition Claim shall be satisfied from collection of accounts receivable pursuant to the post-petition financing order approved by the Court.
- c. <u>Impairment and Voting.</u> The Class 4 Claim is not Impaired and the holder of this Claim is not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

Class 5 / Allowed General Unsecured Claims.

Class 5 shall consist of Allowed General Unsecured Claims (the "Class 5 Claims") and is estimated to be approximately \$500,000.00. The Debtor has not filed claims objections and may object to certain of the unsecured claims.

- a. <u>Treatment</u>. Each holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim shall be paid its pro-rata share of \$500.00 a month over sixty (60) months, beginning on the 20th of the month following the Effective Date and continuing on the twentieth day of each month thereafter until paid in full pursuant to the Plan.
- b. <u>Impairment and Voting.</u> Class 5 is impaired by the Plan. The holders of Class 5 Claims are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

Class 6 / Allowed Equity Interests.

Class 6 shall consist of all Allowed Interests in the Debtor (the "Class 6 Claims"). On Confirmation Date, all equity interests in the Debtor shall be retained.

a. <u>Treatment</u>. Holders of Class 6 Claims shall receive no distribution under the Plan in such capacity, and shall no right to any dividends or distributions on account of its interests, unless and until all unclassified and classified claims are paid as called for by the Plan. Class 6 shall retain ownership of the Reorganized Debtor.

b. <u>Impairment and Voting</u>. Class 6 is impaired by the Plan. The holders of the Class 6 Interests are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan. The votes in this Class shall not count towards determining whether an impaired Class has voted to accept or reject this Plan.

ARTICLE VII: VOTING

7.01 Voting pursuant to Section 1126 of the Bankruptcy Code shall take place by ballot. Ballots will be distributed with the "solicitation package" approved by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to Section 1125 of the Bankruptcy Code.

ARTICLE VIII: MEANS FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF PLAN

8.01 Implementation of Plan. This Plan will be implemented, pursuant to Section 1123(a)(5) of the Code, by the commencement of payments as called for above. Projections for this Plan are attached to the Disclosure Statement and incorporated herein by this reference as if set forth in full for all purposes.

Upon the Effective Date, all property of the Debtor and its Estate shall vest in the Debtor, subject to the Allowed Secured Claims in this Plan.

The funds necessary for the satisfaction of the creditors' claims shall be generated from Debtor's income from continued operation of the business.

ARTICLE IX TREATMENT OF EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES

- 9.01 <u>Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases</u>. On the Effective Date, and to the extent permitted by applicable law, every executory contract and unexpired lease of the Debtor shall be deemed accepted unless such executory contract or unexpired lease (a) has been rejected pursuant an order of the Bankruptcy Court; (b) is identified in the Plan, a Plan Supplement or the Confirmation Order to be rejected; or (c) is the subject of a pending motion to assume filed on or before the Confirmation Hearing.
- **9.02** Reservation of Rights. The Debtor shall have the right to assume or reject, pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 365, prior to the Confirmation Date, any executory contract or unexpired lease of real property (to the extent permitted under the Bankruptcy Code).
- 9.03 <u>Bar Date for Claims Based on Rejection</u>. If the rejection of an executory contract or an unexpired lease by the Debtor results in damages to the other party or parties to such contract or lease, a Claim for such damages shall be forever barred and shall not be enforceable against the Debtor or its properties or agents, successors, or assigns, unless a proof of Claim is filed with the Bankruptcy Court and served upon the Debtor, by the earlier of (a) the end of the month following the period in which the Effective Date occurs or (b) such other deadline as the Court may set for

asserting a Claim for such damages. Any Rejection Claim arising from the rejection of an unexpired lease or executory contract shall be treated as a General Unsecured Claim; *provided*, *however*, that any Rejection Claim based upon the rejection of an unexpired lease of real property either prior to the Confirmation Date or upon the entry of the Confirmation Order shall be limited in accordance with section 502(b)(6) of the Bankruptcy Code and state law mitigation requirements. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed an admission by the Debtor that such rejection gives rise to or results in a Claim or shall be deemed a waiver by the Debtor of any objections to such Claim if asserted.

ARTICLE X: ENFORCEMENT, SETTLEMENT, OR ADJUSTMENT OF CLAIMS

10.01 <u>The Debtor's Causes of Action</u>. Except as otherwise released pursuant to the Plan, all Claims recoverable under Section 550 of the Bankruptcy Code, all Claims against third parties on account of an indebtedness, and all other Claims of any kind or character whatsoever owed to or in favor of the Debtor or the Estate to the extent not specifically compromised and released pursuant to this Plan or any agreement referred to and incorporated herein, are hereby preserved and retained for enforcement by the Debtor for the benefit of the Creditors subsequent to the Effective Date. This Plan shall not estop the Debtor from asserting any claim or cause of action whether disclosed or not.

10.02 <u>Time for Filing Claims</u>. The holder of any Administrative Claim other than (i) a Fee Claim, (ii) a liability incurred and paid in the ordinary course of business by the Debtor, or (iii) an Allowed Administrative Claim, must file with the Bankruptcy Court and serve on the Debtor and its counsel, notice of such Administrative Claim within thirty (30) days after the Effective Date. At a minimum, such notice must identify (i) the name of the holder of such Claim, (ii) the amount of such Claim, and (iii) the basis of such Claim. Failure to file this notice timely and properly shall result in the Administrative Claim being forever barred and discharged.

Each Person asserting an Administrative Expense that is a Fee Claim incurred before the Effective Date shall be required to file with the Bankruptcy Court, and serve on the Debtor's counsel and the U. S. Trustee, a Fee Application within sixty (60) days after the Effective Date.

A person who is found to have received a voidable transfer shall have thirty (30) days following the date upon which the order ruling that such transfer is avoidable becomes a Final Order in which to file a Claim in the amount of such avoided transfer.

A Person asserting a claim based on the rejection of an executory contract or lease shall be governed by the terms above in the Article on Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases.

Liabilities incurred from the Petition Date through the Effective Date in the ordinary course of business shall be paid in the ordinary course of business by the Debtor.

Each Person holding a claim not otherwise described in this Section shall file a proof of claim with the Clerk of the Bankruptcy Court and serve notice on Debtor and counsel by the Bar Date. Unless otherwise provided for by the Bankruptcy Code or Rules, failure to do so shall result

in the Claim being forever barred and discharged.

10.03 Objections to Claims. Any party authorized by the Bankruptcy Code may object to the allowance of Pre-petition Claims at any time prior to sixty (60) days after the Effective Date and, as to Rejection Claims, at any time prior to sixty (60) days after the filing of any such Rejection Claim. Any proof of Claim filed after the Court sets bar dates shall be of no force and effect and shall be deemed disallowed. All Contested Claims shall be litigated to Final Order; provided, however, that the Debtor may compromise and settle any Contested Claim, subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a person who is found to have received a voidable transfer shall have thirty (30) days following the date upon which the order ruling that such transfer is avoidable becomes a Final Order in which to file a Claim in the amount of such avoided transfer.

No distributions under this Plan shall be made to the holder of a Claim that is in dispute, unless and until such Claim becomes an Allowed Claim. If a Claim is disputed in whole or in part because the Debtor asserts a right of offset against such Claim or recoupment against the holder of such Claim, then, if and to the extent the Claim giving rise to the offset or recoupment is sustained by Final Order, the Claim in dispute shall be reduced or eliminated and, if applicable, the holder of such Claim shall be required to pay the amount of such offset or recoupment, less the amount of its Allowed Claim. In addition, any party authorized by the Bankruptcy Code, at any time, may request that the Court estimate any contingent, disputed or unliquidated Claim pursuant to Section 502(c) of the Bankruptcy Code, regardless of any prior objections.

ARTICLE XI: EFFECT OF CONFIRMATION

- 11.01 <u>Discharge and Release of Debtor</u>. Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 1141(d), confirmation of this Plan <u>does</u> discharge the Debtor, and except as otherwise specifically provided herein or in the order confirming the Plan, vests all property of the estate in the Reorganized Debtor free and clear of all liens, claims, and encumbrances of any kind.
- 11.02 <u>Released Entities</u>. None of the officers, financial advisors, attorneys, or employees of the Debtor (collectively the "Released Entities") shall have any liability for actions taken or omitted to be taken in good faith under or in connection with the Plan.
- 11.03 <u>Legal Binding Effect</u>. The provisions of this Plan, pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code Section 1141 shall bind the Debtor and all Creditors, whether or not they accept this Plan. The distributions provided for Claimants shall not be subject to any Claim by another creditor or interest holder by reason of any assertion of a contractual right of subordination.
- 11.04 <u>Permanent Injunction</u>. Confirmation of the Plan shall result in the inability to commence or continue any judicial, administrative, or other action or proceeding on account of any Pre-Petition Date Claims against the Debtor. Confirmation of the Plan shall result in the issuance of an injunction such that all entities who have held, hold, or may hold Claims against or Interests in a Debtor are, with respect to any such Claims or Interests, permanently enjoined from and after the Confirmation Date from:

- a. commencing, conducting or continuing in any manner, directly or indirectly, any suit, action or other proceeding of any kind (including, without limitation, any proceeding in a judicial, arbitral, administrative or other forum) against or affecting any Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, any of their professionals, any of their property, or any direct or indirect transferee of any property of, or direct or indirect successor in interest to, any Debtor, or any property of any such transferee or successor;
- b. enforcing, levying, attaching (including, without limitation, any pre-judgment attachment), collecting or otherwise recovering by any manner or means, whether directly or indirectly, of any judgment, award, decree or order against any Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, any of their professionals, any of their property, or any direct or indirect transferee of any property of, or direct or indirect successor in interest to, any Debtor, or any property of any such transferee or successor;
- c. creating, perfecting or otherwise enforcing in any manner, directly or indirectly, any encumbrance of any kind against any Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, any of their professionals, any of their property, or any direct or indirect transferee of any property of, or successor in interest to, any of the foregoing entities;
- d. asserting any right of setoff, subrogation, or recoupment of any kind, directly or indirectly, against any obligation due to any Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, any of their professionals, any of their property, or any direct or indirect transferee of any property of, or successor in interest to, any of the foregoing entities; and
- e. acting or proceeding in any manner, in any place whatsoever, that does not conform to or comply with the provisions of the Plan.

Provided, however, that each holder of a Contested Claim may continue to prosecute its proof of Claim in the Bankruptcy Court and all holders of Claims shall be entitled to enforce their rights under the Plan and any agreements executed or delivered pursuant to or in connection with the Plan.

In the event that any Entity takes any action that is prohibited by, or is otherwise inconsistent with the provisions of this Section of the Plan, then, upon notice to the Bankruptcy Court, the action or proceeding in which the claim of such entity is asserted shall automatically be transferred to the Bankruptcy Court for enforcement of the provisions of this Section of the Plan.

ARTICLE XII: MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

- 12.01 <u>Request for Relief Under Bankruptcy Code Section 1129</u>. In the event any Impaired Class shall fail to accept this Plan in accordance with Bankruptcy Code Section 1129(a), the Debtor reserves the right to, and does hereby request the Bankruptcy Court to confirm the Plan in accordance with Bankruptcy Code Section 1129(b).
- **12.02 Revocation**. The Debtor reserves the right to revoke and withdraw this Plan at any time prior to the Confirmation Date.

- 12.03 Effect of Withdrawal or Revocation. If the Debtor revokes or withdraws this Plan prior to the Confirmation Date, or if the Confirmation Date or the Effective Date does not occur, then this Plan shall be deemed null and void. In such event, nothing contained herein shall be deemed to constitute a waiver or release of any Claims by or against the Debtor or any other person or to prejudice in any manner the rights of the Debtor or any person in any further proceedings involving the Debtor.
- 12.04 <u>Due Authorization by Creditors</u>. Each and every Claimant who elects to participate in the distributions provided herein warrants that it is authorized to accept in consideration of its Claim against the Debtor the distributions provided in the Plan and that there are no outstanding commitments, agreements, or understandings, express or implied, that may or can in any way defeat or modify the rights conveyed or obligations undertaken by it under this Plan.
- 12.05 <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Plan, as described herein, the Confirmation Order, and all other documents and instruments to effectuate this Plan provided for herein, constitute the entire agreement and understanding among the parties hereto relating to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior discussions and documents.
- 12.06 <u>Section 1146 Exemption</u>. Pursuant to Section 1146 of the Bankruptcy Code, the issuance, transfer or exchange or any security under this Plan or the making or delivery of any instrument or transfer pursuant to, in implementation of or as contemplated by this Plan or the transfer of any property pursuant to this Plan shall not be taxed under any federal, state or local law imposing a stamp, transfer or similar tax or fee.
- 12.07 <u>Provisions Governing Distributions</u>. All payments and distributions under the Plan shall be made by the Debtor as indicated. Any payments or distributions to be made by the Debtor pursuant to the Plan shall be made as soon as reasonably practicable after the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided for in the Plan, or as may be ordered by the Bankruptcy Court. Any payment or distribution by the Debtor pursuant to the Plan, to the extent delivered by the United States Mail, shall be deemed made when deposited into the United States Mail.

Payments of Cash to be made by the Debtor pursuant to the Plan shall be made by check drawn on a domestic bank or by wire transfer from a domestic bank.

Distributions and deliveries to holders of Allowed Claims shall be made at the addresses set forth on the proofs of Claim or proofs of interest filed by such holders (or at the last known addresses of such holders if no proof of Claim or proof of interest is filed). All Claims for undeliverable distributions shall be made on or before the second anniversary of the Effective Date. After such date, all unclaimed property shall remain the property of the Debtor and the Claim of any other holder with respect to such unclaimed property shall be discharged and forever barred.

Checks issued by the Debtor in respect of Allowed Claims shall be null and void if not cashed within ninety (90) days of the date of delivery thereof. Requests for reissuance of any check shall be made directly to the Debtor by the holder of the Allowed Claim to whom such check originally was issued. Any claim in respect of such a voided check within ninety (90) days after the date of delivery of such check. After such date, all Claims in respect of void checks shall be

discharged and forever barred, and the amount of such checks shall become Unclaimed Property and returned to the Debtor.

No interest shall be paid on any Claim unless, and only to the extent that, the Plan specifically provides otherwise.

- 12.08 Governing Law. Unless a rule of law or procedure supplied by federal law (including the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rules) is applicable, or a specific choice of law provision is provided, the internal laws of the State of Texas shall govern the construction and implementation of the Plan and any agreements, documents, and instruments executed in connection with the Plan, without regard to conflicts of law.
- 12.09 <u>Default</u>. Unless otherwise stated in this Plan, if the Debtor fails to satisfy any of the obligations under this Plan and such default is not cured within 30 business days of the date of transmission of notice of the default to the Debtor, then the defaulted party may pursue all of its remedies outside of the Bankruptcy Court, including, but not limited to, foreclosure on its lien(s) on property. For purposes of this provision, notice shall be provided to the Debtor, c/o Joyce Lindauer, Esq. at (972) 503-4034.
- 12.10 <u>Severability.</u> If any term or provision of the Plan is determined by a Court to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, such determination shall in no way limit or affect the enforceability or operative effect of any other provision of the Plan. If any term or provision of the Plan is of such a character as to deny Confirmation, the Debtor reserves the right to strike or modify such provision and seek Confirmation of the Plan as modified. Notwithstanding any such holding, alteration, or interpretation, the remainder of the terms and provisions of the Plan will remain in full force and effect and will in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated by such holding, alteration or interpretation.
- **12.11 No Admissions.** Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, nothing contained in the Plan shall be deemed as an admission by any Entity with respect to any matter set forth herein.

ARTICLE XIII: MODIFICATION OF THE PLAN

13.01 The Debtor may propose amendments to or modifications of this Plan at any time prior to Confirmation, upon notice to all parties-in-interest. After Confirmation, the Debtor may, with approval of the Court and so long as it does not materially or adversely affect the interest of creditors, modify to remedy any defect or omission or reconcile any inconsistencies in the Confirmation Order in such manner as may be necessary to carry out the purposes and effect of this Plan.

ARTICLE XIV: ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS

14.01 Retention of Jurisdiction

Notwithstanding confirmation of the Plan or the Effective Date having occurred, the Court

will retain jurisdiction for the following purposes:

- 1) <u>Allowance of Claims</u>. To hear and determine the allowability of all Claims upon objections to such Claims.
- 2) <u>Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases Proceedings</u>. To act with respect to proceedings regarding the assumption of any executory contract or unexpired lease of the Debtor pursuant to Section 365 and 1123 of the Code and Article VII of the Plan.
- 3) <u>Plan Interpretation</u>. To resolve controversies and disputes regarding the interpretation of the Plan.
- 4) <u>Plan Implementation</u>. To implement and enforce the provisions of the Plan and enter orders in aid of confirmation and implementation of the Plan.
- 5) <u>Plan Modification</u>. To modify the Plan pursuant to Section 1127 of the Code and applicable Bankruptcy Rules.
- 6) <u>Adjudication</u> <u>of Controversies</u>. To adjudicate such contested matters and adversary proceedings as may be pending or subsequently initiated in the Court against the Debtor.
- 7) <u>Injunctive</u> <u>Relief</u>. To issue any injunction or other relief as appropriate to implement the intent of the Plan, and to enter such further orders enforcing any injunctions or other relief issued under the Plan or in the Confirmation Order.
- 8) <u>Interpleader Action</u>. To entertain interpleader actions concerning assets to be distributed or other assets of the Estate.
- 9) <u>Correct Minor Defects</u>. To correct any defect, cure any omission or reconcile any inconsistency or ambiguity in the Plan, the Confirmation Order or any document executed or to be executed in connection therewith, as may be necessary to carry out the purposes and intent of the Plan, provided that the rights of any holder or an Allowed Claim are not materially and adversely affected thereby.
- 10) <u>Authorization of Fees and Expenses</u>. To review and authorize payment of professional fees incurred prior to the Effective Date.
- 11) <u>Post-Confirmation Orders Regarding Confirmation</u>. To enter and implement such orders as may be appropriate in the event the Confirmation Order is, for any reason, stayed, reversed, revoked, modified, or vacated.
- 12) <u>Final Decree</u>. To enter a final decree closing the Case pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 3022.

14.02 Successors and Assigns

The rights, benefits, and obligations of any entity named or referred to in the Plan shall be binding on, and shall inure to the benefit of, not just the entity but also the heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of such entity.

14.03 Notices

After Confirmation, all notices, requests or demands for payments provided for in the Plan shall be in writing and shall be addressed to:

Joyce W. Lindauer 12720 Hillcrest Road, Suite 625 Dallas, Texas 75230 (972) 503-4033 Telephone (972) 503-4034 Facsimile

with copies to:

Reynolds Protection 1900 Pacific Avenue, Suite 5000 Dallas, Texas 75201

For so long as the Chapter 11 Case remains open, any of the above may, from time to time, change its address for future notices and other communications hereunder by filing a notice of the change of address with the Bankruptcy Court. After the Chapter 11 Case is closed, any of the above may, from time to time, change its address for future notices and other communications hereunder by service upon any party in interest expressly requesting notice of same. Any and all notices given under the Plan shall be effective when received.

Respectfully Submitted,

/s/ Joyce W. Lindauer

Joyce W. Lindauer

State Bar No. 21555700

Sarah M. Cox

California State Bar No. 245475

Jamie N. Kirk

State Bar No. 24076485

Jeffery M. Veteto

State Bar No. 24098548

JOYCE W. LINDAUER ATTORNEY, PLLC

12720 Hillcrest Road, Suite 625

Dallas, Texas 75230

Telephone: (972) 503-4033 Facsimile: (972) 503-4034 ATTORNEYS FOR DEBTOR

/s/ Chad Reynolds

Member-Manager, Reynolds Protection LLC

Reynolds Protection, LLC

Source:	MORs
Nr of months:	4

Revenue and Expense Overview						
MOR:	Mar-17	Apr-17	May-17	Jun-17	P	verage
A. Gross Revenue	\$ 159,595.23	\$ 128,966.02	\$ 165,812.13	\$ 168,683.66		155,764.26
B. Expenses (excl. reorganization)	\$ 166,619.27	\$ 127,723.44	\$ 149,444.81	\$ 148,996.62		148,196.04
D. Net Income (A - B)	\$ (7,024.04)		\$ 16,367.32	\$ 19,687.04	\$	7,568.23
Revenue						
Regular Income	\$ 159,595.23	\$ 128,966.02	\$ 165,812.13	\$ 168,683.66	\$	155,764.26
Totals	\$ 159,595.23	\$ 128,966.02	\$ 165,812.13	\$ 168,683.66	\$	155,764.26
Expenses (Excluding Reorganization)						
					\$	-
Total Expenses	166,619.27	127,723.44	149,444.81	148,996.62		148,196.04
					\$	-
					\$	-
					\$	-
					\$	-
					\$	-
					\$	-
					\$	-
					\$	<u>-</u>
Totals	\$ 166,619.27	\$ 127,723.44	\$ 149,444.81	\$ 148,996.62	\$	148,196.04

EXHIBIT "B"

CHAPTER 11 DEBTOR PROJECTIONS

Reynolds Protection, LLC 8/1/2017

		October	November	December	January	February
		Month	Month	Month	Month	Month
INCOME		1	<u> </u>	3	4	5
	Net Income	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26
	Legal Retainer	7,500.00				
	NET INCOME	163,264.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26
EXPENSES						
	Total Expenses	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04
	TOTAL EXPENSES	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04
PLAN PAYMENTS	Class					
	1 Allowed Administrative Claims	2,000.00	2,000.00	2,000.00	2,000.00	2,000.00
	2 Allowed Secured Claim of Texas Comptroller	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15
	3 Allowed Priority Claims of IRS	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03
	4 Allowed Secured Claim of Landry Marks ¹	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	5 Allowed General Unsecured Claims	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00
	6 Equity Holder	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	TOTAL PLAN PAYMENTS	6,915.18	6,915.18	6,915.18	6,915.18	6,915.18
NET INCOME		8,153.05	653.05	653.05	653.05	653.05
CUMULATIVE INCO	OME	8,153.05	8,806.09	9,459.14	10,112.18	10,765.23

¹ Landry Marks is paid pursuant to the Factoring Agreement described at pages 12-13 of the Disclosure Statement, and has no pre-petitic

EXHIBIT "C"

March	April	May	June	July	August	September	October	November	December	January
Month	Month	Month								
6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26
155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26
148,196.04 148,196.04	*	148,196.04 148,196.04								
2,000.00	2,000.00	2,000.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15
43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
6,915.18	6,915.18	6,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18
653.05	653.05	653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05
11,418.27	12,071.32	12,724.36	15,377.41	18,030.45	20,683.50	23,336.54	25,989.59	28,642.63	31,295.68	33,948.72

on amount due to be paid under the Plan. The amount due to Landry Marks has already been accounted for in the Net Income of the Debtor.

February	March	April	May	June	July	August	September	October	November
Month									
17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26
155 564 26	155 764 26	155 564 26	155 764 26	155 764 26	155 564 26	155 564 26	155 564 26	155 764 26	155 564 26
155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26
155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26
200,701120	100,701120	,,			100,1011	100,101.	100,1011		,,
148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04
148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15
43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18
2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05
36,601.77	39,254.81	41,907.86	44,560.90	47,213.95	49,866.99	52,520.04	55,173.08	57,826.13	60,479.17

December	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August	September
Month	Month	Month	Month	Month	Month	Month	Month	Month	Month
27	28	29	30	31	32	33	34	35	36
155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26
155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26
148,196.04 148,196.04		148,196.04 148,196.04							
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15
43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18
2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05
63,132.22	65,785.26	68,438.31	71,091.35	73,744.40	76,397.44	79,050.49	81,703.53	84,356.58	87,009.62

October	November	December	January	February	March	April	May	June	July
Month	Month	Month	Month	Month	Month	Month	Month	Month	Month
37	38	39	40	41	42	43	44	45	46
155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26
155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26
140 106 04	140 106 04	140 106 04	140 106 04	140 106 04	140 106 04	140 106 04	140 106 04	140 106 04	140 106 04
148,196.04	The state of the s	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	1	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	148,196.04
148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15
43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18
2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05
89,662.67	92,315.71	94,968.76	97,621.80	100,274.85	102,927.89	105,580.94	108,233.98	110,887.03	113,540.07

August	September	October	November	December	January	February	March	April	May
Month									
47	48	49	50	51	52	53	54	55	56
155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26
155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26
148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04
148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15
43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18
2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05
116,193.12	118,846.16	121,499.21	124,152.25	126,805.30	129,458.34	132,111.39	134,764.43	137,417.48	140,070.52

June	July	August	September	
Month	Month	Month	Month	
57	58	59	60	
155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	
155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	155,764.26	
148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	
148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	148,196.04	
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	4,372.15	
43.03	43.03	43.03	43.03	
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
500.00	500.00	500.00	500.00	
0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	4,915.18	
2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	2,653.05	
142,723.57	145,376.61	148,029.66	150,682.70	

Class No.	Creditor	Type of Claim	Scheduled Amount	POC No.	POC Amount	Estimated Monthly Payments by Class
2	Texas Comptroller	Secured	\$ 423,759.67	3	\$ 412,028.43	monthly payment at 4.75% for 120 mos: \$4372.15
2	Texas Comptroller	Secured	\$ -	4	\$ 3,805.44	monthly payment at 4.75% for 60 mos: \$71.38
	Total Class 2		\$ 423,759.67	1	\$ 415,833.87	
3	Internal Revenue Service	Priority	\$ 8,000.00	1	\$ 3,662.41	monthly payment at 4.25% for 60 mos: \$43.03
	Total Class 3		\$ 8,000.00)	\$ 3,662.41	
4	Landry Marks Partners LP	Secured	\$ 56,600.00)	none filed	
	Total Class 4		\$56,600.00)		
5	Andrew Farkas	Unsecured	\$ 18,000.00)		pro rata share of \$500.00 per month
5	BBVA Compass	Unsecured	\$ 48,000.00)		pro rata share of \$500.00 per month
5	Capital One	Unsecured	\$ 35,000.00	2	\$ 49,297.96	pro rata share of \$500.00 per month
5	Celayix Software	Unsecured	\$ 375.00)		pro rata share of \$500.00 per month
5	El Dorado Insurance Agency, Inc.	Unsecured	\$ 1,400.00)		pro rata share of \$500.00 per month
5	El Dorado Insurance Agency, Inc.	Unsecured	\$ 1,600.00)		pro rata share of \$500.00 per month
5	Elizabeth M. Guffy, Plan Agent	Unsecured	\$ 376,955.73	5	\$ 378,611.18	pro rata share of \$500.00 per month
5	Google	Unsecured	\$ 2,500.00)		pro rata share of \$500.00 per month
5	Logix Comunications	Unsecured	\$ 160.00)		pro rata share of \$500.00 per month
	Total Class 5		\$ 483,990.73	3	\$ 427,909.14	
n/a	BlueCross BlueShield	Executory Contract	\$ 1,700.00)		Contract to be assumed, default to be cured by Effective Date

EXHIBIT "D"